
STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD
AGENDA

Venue: The Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Tuesday, 2nd October, 2018
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby              Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 June 2018. 1 - 4

4. Presentation from Nuclear Decommissioning Authority re: Business 
Planning Process 

5. Update on Developments in Radioactive Waste Management. 5 - 16

6. Consultation on Draft Nuclear Safeguards Regulations. 17 - 20

7. Nuclear Projects Update 21 - 24

8. Planning Update 

9. Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board will be held on 
Tuesday 18 December 2018 at 2:00pm in the Bainbridge Room.

Membership: Councillors Raymond Gill (Chair), Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, 
Gwynneth Everett, Linda Jones-Bulman, David Moore and Felicity Wilson

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 26 JUNE 2018

Present: Councillors Raymond Gill, in the Chair; Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, 
Gwynneth Everett and David Moore.

Officers: Steve Smith (Interim Nuclear Projects Manager), Clive Willoughby (Democratic 
Services Officer) and Heather Morrison (Senior Planning Officer).

SN 18/1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Linda Jones-Bulman and Felicity 
Wilson.

SN 18/2 Declarations of Interest 

There were no Declarations of Interests made at this meeting.

SN 18/3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 April 2018 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 April 2018 be signed by the Chair 
as a correct record.

SN 18/4 Appointment of Deputy Chair 

It was moved by Councillor Gwynneth Everett, duly seconded and 

RESOLVED – That Councillor Peter Connolly be appointed Deputy Chair of the Strategic 
Nuclear and Energy Board for the 2018/19 municipal year.

SN 18/5 Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements 2018 

The Interim Nuclear Projects Manager introduced the Copeland Borough Council Nuclear 
Position Statements 2018 to the Board, which updated the previous versions produced in 
2015.

It was highlighted that the purpose of the statements were to provide a consistent position to 
aid the Council’s engagement with the Nuclear industry, identify the range of recent 
developments in terms of policy drivers that have occurred at an international and national 
level, provide a summary of why the Nuclear Sector is important to Copeland and identify how 
the Nuclear sector could contribute to the Council’s strategic ambitions particularly in relation 
to the Council’s Growth Strategy and Copeland’s position as the focal point of the UK Centre 
of Nuclear Excellence.

During the discussion that followed, it was suggested that any updates resulting from the 
Oxford study should be made before being forwarded to the Executive.

RESOLVED:- that the Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements 2018 be 
endorsed and forwarded to the Executive, subject to any updates resulting from the Oxford 
study being made.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



SN 18/6 Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) Report - Impact on 
Radioactive Waste Management from the UKs withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom 
Treaty. 

Members were informed of the publication of the report ‘Impact on Radioactive Waste 
Management from the UK’s withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom Treaty’ compiled by the 
Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM).

The Board was reminded that CoRWM provides independent scrutiny and advice to the UK 
governments on the long-term management of higher activity radioactive wastes.

It was stated that in respect of radioactive waste and spent fuel management, CoRWM had 
not identified any major significant gaps between the current arrangements within the IUK and 
those that would continue to be in place post Brexit.

It was also stated that in the context of the safe management of spent fuel and the safe 
management of radioactive waste, withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom Treaty should 
have no major impact.

Members were advised that the current arrangements in place within the UK were robust and 
provided a comprehensive legal framework for the protection of workers, the public and the 
environment and was in compliance with the requirements of the International Atomic Energy 
Agency (IAEA) Joint Convention, of which the UK is a Contracting Party and was therefore 
subject to its requirements and the associated international scrutiny.

RESOLVED:- that the report be noted.

SN 18/7 Consultation on the Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of De-
Commissioning and Clean-Up. 

The Board was advised of a consultation being undertaken by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) on proposals to amend the legislation that underlies the 
regulatory framework for nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning and clean-up, 
the closing dates for responses being 3rd July 2018.

During the discussion that followed, Members were concerned that any change to the end 
state did not include consultation with the local community.

RESOLVED:- that 
a) the response to include that any end state change be in consultation with the local 

community, and
b) sign-off of the final response be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with 

the Chair of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board and the Portfolio Holder for 
Nuclear and Corporate Services.

SN 18/8 NuLeAF Work Programme 2018/19. 

The Board were provided with an overview of the role undertaken by the Nuclear Legacy 
Advisory Forum (NuLeAF) and considered the draft NuLeAF work programme for 2018/19.

Members were of the opinion that NuLeAF was a useful body to be involved with and that 
Copeland’s views were well represented. The Board felt that they received value for money by 
being members of NuLeAF.  

Page 2



RESOLVED: that  
a) the draft NuLeAF work programme for 2018/19 be noted, and
b) support for continued membership be agreed.  

SN 18/9 Nuclear Projects Update. 

The Board members were advised by the Interim Nuclear Projects Manager that there was 
nothing of significance to update them on regarding the Moorside project and the North-West 
Coast Connections Project.

Members were also advised that Government consultation on ‘Implementing Geological 
Disposal’ and ‘Working with Communities’ had taken place and the Council had responded. 
Government had commenced an internal scrutiny process of the proposals and on 25 May 
2018, the Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy Committee launched an inquiry and call for 
evidence into nuclear waste disposal through the draft National Policy Statement. Copeland 
had made a response and included a request that the Council make a verbal response at the 
enquiry.

RESOLVED: that  
a) The current position in relation to the Moorside project and the North-West Coast 

Connections Project be noted, and
b) In relation to GDF, the submission of the Council response to the Government’s call for 

evidence be noted.  

SN 18/10 Planning update 

The Senior Planning Officer provided the Board with an update of developments at Sellafield 
Limited.

RESOLVED:- That the Update be noted.

SN 18/11 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board will be held on Tuesday 7 August 
2018 at 2:00pm, in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Whitehaven.

The Meeting closed at 3.15 pm 

Chair

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 021018

Update on developments in Radioactive Waste Management.

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith

Summary and Recommendation:

This paper provides Members with an update on recent developments in radioactive waste 
management and Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) strategy and planning, 
specifically; 

I. the development of the NDA Business Plan; 
II. consultation on a single Radioactive Waste Strategy; 

III. recent publication of the updated Nuclear Provision; 
IV. Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of Decommissioning and Clean – Up;
V. Guidance on Requirements for Release from Radioactive Substances Regulation;

VI. Proposals to develop a National Narrative on ‘in-situ’ disposal (ISD)

1. Members are asked to note the current position regarding the above developments relating 
to radioactive waste and nuclear materials management.

1. NDA Business Plan

Members of SNEB will recall the presentation given by NDA colleagues Martin Leifeith 
and Sue Lawson regarding the annual NDA Business Plan. The Plan is usually circulated 
for consultation early in January for comment amongst stakeholders prior to being 
signed-off by NDA Executive by 1st April each year. In previous years, the Council has 
received a presentation from NDA colleagues and subsequently drafted a consultation 
response. The Council’s consultation response to the draft Business Plan for 2018 is 
attached for reference as Appendix A to this report. Amongst the range of comments in 
the past has been the limited time available to comment on the draft and the lack of 
meaningful reporting of progress on identified deliverables between one plan period 
and the next.
In an attempt to tackle these specific criticisms, NDA officials will be present at the 
meeting to report on progress and outline the scope for next year’s Business Plan. In an 
attempt to provide some additional background Members may wish to visit the 
following link https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-
decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-
2018?utm_source=ff953236-e0d4-4ef6-b876-
41e3d98186d3&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-
notifications&utm_content=weekly. This is the latest annual report from the NDA 
published on 12th July for the year 2017/18. The report notes the issues and challenges 
posed by the various inquiries into the failed Magnox contract process. It highlights 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018?utm_source=ff953236-e0d4-4ef6-b876-41e3d98186d3&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=weekly
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018?utm_source=ff953236-e0d4-4ef6-b876-41e3d98186d3&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=weekly
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018?utm_source=ff953236-e0d4-4ef6-b876-41e3d98186d3&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=weekly
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018?utm_source=ff953236-e0d4-4ef6-b876-41e3d98186d3&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=weekly
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018?utm_source=ff953236-e0d4-4ef6-b876-41e3d98186d3&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=weekly


progress in dealing with some of the high hazard facilities and in the transfer of Spent 
Nuclear Fuel (SNF) other materials to Sellafield.

Looking forward, the report notes that priorities for the current year are to:
 Establish new arrangement for the management of the Magnox sites;
 Move Bradwell into care and maintenance;
 Conclude the transfer of materials from Dounreay to Sellafield;
 Complete preparations for the Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) siting process; 

and
 Remove the final piece of Magnox fuel from the last Magnox reactor at Wylfa.

2. Radioactive Waste Strategy

In July, NDA launched a consultation document on its proposals for a single Radioactive 
Waste Strategy for all wastes produced on the NDA estate. The full document is 
available via the following link; https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nda-
radioactive-waste-management-strategy. The aim of the Strategy is to provide:

 a framework for making decisions flexibly, to ensure safe, environmentally 
acceptable and cost-effective solutions that reflect the nature of the radioactive 
waste concerned;

 a consolidated position and greater clarity of strategic needs in this area;
 promotes cross-category waste management opportunities;
 support a risk-based approach to waste management; and
 an integrated programme for a suitable and timely waste management 

infrastructure to support the NDA mission.

It seeks to build on successes in Low Level Waste (LLW) management. The programme 
will be taken forward in phases with an initial focus on LLW/ILW (Intermediate Level 
Waste) boundary wastes – i.e. wastes for which the level of radioactivity and other 
characteristics mean there may be different ways to manage them. There will also be 
an early focus on packaging and the waste management culture within the SLCs.
The consultation itself closes on 31st October. In order to assist in generating a Council 
response NDA colleagues have agreed to come along to a Member briefing session on 
17th October. Further details will be sent out to all Members shortly. The aim will be to 
capture the key messages form the briefing session and draft a response for sign-off by 
the Chair of SNEB and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Resources prior 
to submission by 31st October. Members of SNEB are invited to identify any particular 
issues to raise with NDA either through the Member briefing session or for 
consideration for inclusion via the consultation response. 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nda-radioactive-waste-management-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nda-radioactive-waste-management-strategy


3.       Nuclear Provision

The Nuclear Provision is the best estimate of how much it will cost to clean up 17 of the 
NDA-owned UK’s earliest nuclear sites over a programme lasting around 120 years.
The estimate is based on the expected costs of:

 decommissioning
 dismantling and demolishing the buildings
 managing and disposing of all waste
 remediation of land

The Nuclear Provision also includes the costs of running more modern plants that are 
still operational, in particular Sellafield’s reprocessing facilities.
Decommissioning many of these facilities will continue well into the 22nd century. Over 
this timescale, plans and forecasts will be affected by technology improvements, 
changes in government policy, economic circumstances and environmental issues.
The figure is updated annually (the latest update was published on 12th July) but should 
be regarded as an informed estimate that depends on assumptions about future 
developments and lies within a range of possible figures. Details of how the Nuclear 
Provision is calculated and allocated across the 17 sites are contained within the 
following link https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-provision-
explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy/nuclear-provision-
explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy. It is worth noting that the 
Sellafield site is expected to receive 75.4% of the funding over that period and the LLWR 
0.5%. The document also notes that a GDF would attract 8.1% of the funding.

4.       Proportionate Regulatory Controls – Consultation on the Regulation of Nuclear Sites       
in the Final Stages of Decommissioning and Clean - Up

Members will recall that at the SNEB meeting in June a report outlined the purpose of 
the above Government consultation. The consultation closed on 3rd July and the 
Council’s response, agreed by the Chair and Portfolio Holder is attached as Appendix B. 
The consultation was seeking views from stakeholders on proposals to make better use 
of the mature regulator expertise and regulatory framework that is in place involving 
the ONR and EA. The timetable for any changes coming into force is not yet clear as this 
will require Parliamentary scrutiny and Ministerial clearance.

5.       Guidance on Requirements for Release from Radioactive Substances Regulation

In addition, UK environmental regulators have recently, jointly published the final 
version of Management of radioactive waste from decommissioning of nuclear sites: 
Guidance on Requirements for Release from Radioactive Substances Regulation; the 
guidance known as the GRR.
 

Page 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/nuclear-decommissioning-authority/about#ndas-estate
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/nuclear-decommissioning-authority/about#ndas-estate
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-provision-explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy/nuclear-provision-explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-provision-explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy/nuclear-provision-explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-provision-explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy/nuclear-provision-explaining-the-cost-of-cleaning-up-britains-nuclear-legacy


The guidance is a joint publication by the Scottish Environment Protection Agency 
(SEPA), the Environment Agency (EA) and Natural Resources Wales (NRW). The text was 
reviewed after taking account of comments made during the consultation carried out in 
February 2016 (and was the subject of a report to SNEB in June 2016) and the learning 
from a subsequent two-year period of trial use by three nuclear sites.

The Guidance governs the arrangements for the management of any residual low-level 
radioactive material left on site following the ending of the nuclear site licence. It applies 
to all nuclear sites including those where decommissioning and clean up has already 
begun, and requires operators to:
• produce a waste management plan;
• produce a site-wide environmental safety case; and
• make sure the condition of their site meets standards for protection of people and the 
environment, now and into the future.

Operators must seek to ‘optimise’ the site, keeping the risks of radiation exposure to 
people as low as reasonably achievable while taking account of economic and social 
factors. The guidance also states that operators must ‘engage early and widely with local 
communities, the general public and other regulators including planning authorities’.

6. Proposals to develop a National Narrative on ‘in-situ’ disposal (ISD)

In addition to the above regulation changes, the NDA are developing a ‘national 
narrative’ around the concept of ‘in-situ-disposal’. At this stage the process is intended 
to provide a framework document to be adopted by Site Licence Companies rather than 
a specific form of guidance for their use. The narrative aims to give site licensees the 
greatest flexibility for sustainable clean-up of sites. In particular, it includes the option 
of In-Situ Disposal (ISD) covering for example some in-situ ground contamination and 
other radioactive materials, which could be disposed of on the site. EA assessment of 
the case for ISD would be required. The benefits of such an approach include a 
significant reduction in costs to the public purse and reduced off-site impacts through 
removing the need for off-site material moves. The approach links to the wider 
Integrated Waste Strategy and will be the subject of further discussion with the NDA. 

Page 8



Appendix A

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL COMMENTS ON THE NDA’S DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN 
APRIL 2018 - MARCH 2021.

INTRODUCTORY COMMENTS

The Council are grateful for the opportunity to comment on the NDA’s draft Business plan for 
2018/2021. This consultation response has been developed following a presentation by NDA 
officials to Councillors, and subsequent discussion, at the meeting of the Council’s Strategic 
Nuclear Energy Board on 30th Jan. The response is drafted in the accepted knowledge and 
understanding that Copeland is the host community for the vast majority of the UK’s higher 
level nuclear/radioactive waste and spent fuels and will continue to be so for many years to 
come. In addition, as hosts to two of the most significant and longest lived NDA legacy sites, 
we believe our views should be considered seriously by the NDA. The draft plan also highlights 
the central roles of Sellafield and LLWR in the NDA mission with five of the six landmark 
achievements targeted across the NDA estate in the plan period being in Copeland.

This response builds on comments made in relation to last year’s Business Plan consultation, 
and to the previous year’s Strategy 3 consultation, and makes reference to those where 
necessary, recognising that some of those comments have been incorporated into the current 
draft Business Plan but a number have not. Where comments have not been included, we 
would still expect a response. The comments in response to Strategy 3 and last year’s business 
plan are considered to still be relevant to the Council and a copy of both responses has been 
attached as appendices to this response for context. In addition to those previous comments 
a number of further comments are provided below. These have been developed against the 
following framework of objectives relating to the operation of nuclear/radioactive waste sites 
in the Borough;

 Safe and secure operation of the sites so that current generations and environment 
are protected

 Strategies and plans that do not prejudice the social wellbeing of future generations
 Protection of prosperity and growth of commercial activity
 Retention of our young people and attraction of businesses and professionals to 

support and grow existing businesses, and to promote innovation and diversification

SPECIFIC COMMENTS IN RELATION TO CURRENT DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN

NDA CORPORATE CENTRE

1. The Council is pleased to note that the format and style, which has been used in 
previous business plan documents, has been retained. It is easy to follow and read and 
is a format which readers are now familiar with. The 20 year Priority Programme 
Overview is a useful way to see the overall challenge in front of the NDA, which we 
understand will be supplemented by further communication tools which highlight 
progress to date.

2. The Council welcomes the clarity provided by the foreword to the document where 
David Peattie as recently appointed Chief Executive highlights the imperative that the 

Page 9



NDA mission must be conducted safely, securely and cost-effectively with the 
protection of people and the environmental the forefront of the NDA’s minds.

3. In view of the significance of the NDAs activities and those of Site Licence Companies 
across the Borough to the Copeland community, the Council is disappointed to note 
that the NDA has chosen to yet again progress an 8-week consultation across the 
Christmas and New Year period. We understand that this is dictated by Central 
Government requirements but we would encourage NDA to undertake earlier 
engagement in the process.

4. In addition, the Council would encourage the NDA to undertake a review of the 
strategy/business plan consultation process to identify how effective it is in 
introducing improvements to the strategy and business plans.

5. The Council notes the very positive comment, on Page 20 of the document, regarding 
the commercial activities of the NDA.  As has been expressed in previous consultation 
responses, the Council is keen to encourage the NDA to take a more positive role 
through the use of its local assets in generating new economic development 
opportunities to support the Councils aspirations for growth and diversification.

6. The Council is pleased to note that there is a now a clear purpose statement for the 
Business Plan but we would reiterate one of our previous concerns around the lack of 
specific delivery targets in each of the key activity areas. Provision of this would help 
to ensure that stakeholders, including ourselves, are very clear on NDA’s specific key 
objectives for the next 3 years. The governance and assurance focus to ensure that 
hazards are reducing as planned is welcomed, but is at variance with the widespread 
use of ‘Continue’ against plan activities. Related to this the format and process does 
not include a full review of the previous year’s targets/achievements, as any usual 
business planning process would do, so it is difficult to determine how successful the 
NDA has been in delivery in the previous year. It is not clear where the level of detail 
we are seeking in relation to the key activities is to be found and we expect the Plan 
to signpost to additional plans and documents where such information might be 
found.

7. The NDA Corporate Centre focus on R&D, skills and socio-economics is welcomed and 
continues previous work. In the plan period, less than 1% of expenditure goes in total 
against these and other activities. Given the scale of transition at Sellafield, with the 
cessation of both Thorp and Magnox reprocessing, and similar challenges at other NDA 
sites outside Copeland, the Council believes that these topics need greater ambition 
and funding.

SELLAFIELD SITE

8. The Council is pleased to see the continued priority given in this Business Plan to the 
Sellafield site in general, and to the tasks associated with high-hazard reduction on the 
site. We expect this to continue whilst the high hazards remain and through the 
outcomes of the Spending Review in 2019 and we would welcome the opportunity to 

Page 10



assist the NDA wherever we can in articulating the continued need for funding in 
advance of the Review.

9. The Council is aware that the NDA is in the process of reviewing its Transport Strategy 
(as currently set out in section 7.10 of Strategy 3). The Council notes that the current 
strategy focuses on the movement of materials between sites only, and that it 
delegates the movement of people to the workplace to the respective SLCs. Whilst this 
may be appropriate for the majority of sites within the NDA estate, the Council takes 
the view that in respect of the Sellafield site, and the impact that the movement of 
goods and people has on the local environment, there is a need for a comprehensive 
Transport and Movement Strategy which covers the full scope of the movement of 
goods AND people to and from the full range of sites and premises occupied by 
Sellafield across the Borough (not just the site itself). The Council would ask that the 
NDA take a more proactive role in ensuring that SLCs generally, but Sellafield Ltd 
specifically, address the full scope of transport movements generated by their 
business activities in the form of a Transport and Movement Strategy.

10. The plan contains little or no information on the Sellafield Transformation Plan. Given 
the scale of changes at Sellafield over the plan period, and the potential for adverse 
impacts on employment and local prosperity, more detail on the Transformation Plan 
outcomes is needed so that the Council can determine likely outcomes and its 
responses.

11. Implementation of the long-term supply chain partnership for Major Projects (PPP) is 
noted as a key current milestone, with an associated activity to implement and embed 
the PPP. There is however no further detail against this. Given that it is both an 
opportunity and a threat to local prosperity, and skills maintenance and development, 
the plan should include more on this important milestone.

12. Continued receipt and storage of special nuclear material from Dounreay is identified, 
although it is noted that there is a lack of certainty regarding timescales. The Council 
remains concerned at this incremental approach to Sellafield becoming the UK nuclear 
material consolidation site. In addition, it is noted that waste materials will be received 
from both Harwell and Aldermaston. Specifically in relation to AWE movements a 
comprehensive view, without security sensitive details, needs to be developed for 
these receipts so that arrangements for planning authority accountabilities, 
community acceptance and good governance can be properly discharged, and the 
impacts of the delivery on the programme can be understood.

13. The activity against the Site Ion Exchange Plant implies that failure of primary 
containment is a concern. Outside the business plan review process the Council wishes 
to understand the consequences of this and the associated contingency plans.

LLWR

14. It is understood that LLWR is developing proposals to increase the scope of material 
received for disposal at LLWR. It is surprising that the work to develop these proposals 
is not identified in the business plan.

Page 11



RWM

15. In relation to the section on RWM, the Council would reiterate comments made by 
others at various events over the last 12 months that the planning assumption date 
for the availability of a GDF of 2040 is unrealistic and, as the current host community 
for the vast majority of the UK’s higher level wastes and spent nuclear fuel, we would 
like to see the Business Plan make reference to the work that is currently underway to 
review the timescales for implementation of the GDF, and the implications for the 
continued long term storage of these materials, and for this information to be shared 
with the Council.

16. The business plan rightly identifies that delivery of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) 
is mission critical for both the UK Government and NDA. Decisions on this are also 
fundamental for Copeland. It is therefore surprising that the key activities do not 
contain any stakeholder engagement elements, nor do they contain timescales, 
indicative or otherwise.

NDA ARCHIVES LTD

17. The bringing into operation of this important national archive is welcomed. Its 
successful population, operation and user access is a key enabler for delivery of the 
hazard reduction and decommissioning programmes at Sellafield, stakeholder 
confidence in the programme and engagement in the GDF programme. Given this, 
target delivery dates for the key activities listed should be provided.

CONCUDING COMMENT

18. Finally where specific issues raised in this consultation response do not find their way 
into the Plan we expect that the NDA will provide a response to the Council both 
formally and through existing stakeholder engagement arrangements. Once NDA has 
considered its position on the above comments CBC would welcome the opportunity 
to discuss how they are addressed and taken forwards.

Page 12



APPENDIX B

Response of Copeland Borough Council to the UK Government’s consultation on the 
Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of Decommissioning and Clean-Up

1. Introduction 

1.1 Copeland Borough Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on the ‘Regulation 
of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of Decommissioning and Clean-Up’ proposals. The Council 
understands that the consultation seeks views on the proposals to amend the legislation that 
underlies the regulatory framework for nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning 
and clean-up.

1.2 This response has been developed through a process of Council Member engagement, 
including consideration by the Council’s Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board. In addition, a 
Council officer attended a stakeholder workshop, including presentations from regulators and 
BEIS officials, on 22nd June. 
Finally as members of NuLeAF (the Nuclear Legacy Advisory Forum), which is the Local 
Government Association (LGA) representative body on legacy wastes and decommissioning, 
the Council has considered the conclusions reached on this topic by NuLeAF. 

1.3 Copeland Borough Council and the communities it represents have a long history of 
involvement with the nuclear industry stretching back over the last 70 years. The Borough is 
host to the Sellafield site, which holds much of the remaining UK nuclear decommissioning 
and clean-up inventory. The Borough is also the host community for the:

• National Low Level Waste Repository, to which most of the UK Low Level Waste will 
be consigned
• HQ for the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA)
• Central laboratory for the National Nuclear Laboratory (NNL)
• National College for Nuclear northern facility
• Various University-led research and training facilities
• Centre for Nuclear Excellence (CoNE)

1.4 In view of the above we believe that the Council is well qualified and experienced to 
provide an informed view on proposals to amend the legislation underlying the regulatory 
framework for nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning and clean-up. 

2. General Comments 

2.1 The proposals in the consultation are sensible improvements to current arrangements. 
They seek to make better use of the mature regulator expertise and regulatory framework 
that is in place. There are however, two important distinctions that we believe must be 
explicitly clarified as these proposals are taken forward. 

Page 13



2.2 These relate to the material differences between reactor decommissioning and fuel 
cycle decommissioning, and the means by which optimised end states will be identified and 
subjected to stakeholder consultation. The justification for these points is given in more detail 
in the response to Questions 2 and 5 below.  

3. Responses to Consultation Questions 

3.1 Question 1 - Do you agree with the proposal to exclude nuclear sites in the process of 
decommissioning and clean-up from the continuing application of the third party liability 
regime, once conditions specified in the Paris Convention Decommissioning Exclusion are 
met? If not, why not? 

3.1.1 CBC agrees with the rationale for bringing the UK in line with internationally agreed 
standards for ending the period of responsibility for nuclear third party liability. 

3.1.2 In reaching this conclusion, we have relied upon the commitments stated in the 
consultation document that the criteria for making these decisions will include that the Paris 
Convention Decommissioning Exclusion Criteria, and that third party liability under ‘ordinary’ 
UK laws would still apply. These commitments should be explicitly included in the draft 
legislation.

3.1.3 Full realisation of the potential benefits would be more likely if a clear framework is 
established, supported by guidance, to enable a balanced assessment of the economic, social 
and environmental impacts of the different options. 

3.1.4 Local authorities and communities will be more likely to accept in-situ or on-site 
disposal if it is demonstrated that the decisions taken are the most sustainable, and are not 
driven primarily by a desire to reduce costs. 

3.1.5 Effective engagement and transparency of decision making are vital at each stage of 
the process, guided by Best Available Technique assessments and the NDA’s Values 
Framework.

3.2 Question 2 - Do you agree that the licensee of a nuclear site should be required to 
apply to the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) to surrender the licence and should lose the 
ability to surrender the licence unconditionally as at present?

3.2.1 CBC agrees with the rationale for this change, noting that both ONR and the 
environment agencies are mature and experienced regulators. Requiring that Licensees 
formally apply to ONR to surrender site licences will clarify obligations for achieving the 
surrender criteria and bring formality to transfers to the relevant regulator. 

Page 14



3.2.2 The language used in this section and others in the consultation document causes us 
some concern that the material differences between decommissioning nuclear reactors and 
fuel cycle facilities have not been fully appreciated. 

3.2.3 This is of particular concern to Copeland given the presence of Sellafield in the 
Borough. Actions to address this shortcoming are identified in the response to Question 5.

3.3 Question 3 - Do you agree that ONR should be able to exclude waste disposal facilities 
from the nuclear site licence if satisfied that nuclear safety and security matters for these 
facilities are fully resolved? If not, why not? 

3.3.1 CBC agrees that if nuclear safety and security matters are fully resolved, and no 
licensable nuclear activities are taking place then waste disposal facilities can be regulated 
solely by the relevant regulator. 

3.3.2 The legislation should clarify whether this applies solely to waste originating from the 
nuclear site to which the licence applies, or whether it would apply to wastes originating from 
a site not covered by that nuclear site licence. 

3.3.3 The CBC view is that waste disposal facilities that come into being through being 
excluded from a nuclear site licence should not be approved for disposal of waste originating 
from a different site unless assessment, justification and approval processes to at least current 
standards are also legislated.  

3.4 Question 4 - Do you have any further evidence that we should take into account in our 
impact assessment? 

3.4.1 The impact assessment does not directly address the local social and economic 
impacts of radioactive material being left on the site, whether that be in a waste disposal 
facility or in situ. 

3.4.2 These impacts will persist for many generations, and in the case of fuel cycle facilities 
for very many generations. The impact assessment should include evidence on these effects 
and their associated mitigations.

3.5 Question 5 - Do you have any other comments on these proposals? 

3.5.1 As noted in our response to Question 2 CBC is concerned that the material differences 
between decommissioning nuclear reactors and fuel cycle facilities have not been fully 
appreciated in the proposed changes to current arrangements. 

3.5.2 In general nuclear waste materials arising on reactor sites will have relatively short 
radioactive decay periods, in the region of hundreds of years, during which the radioactivity 
levels will decay to levels of low human impact. 

Page 15



3.5.3 Fuel cycle facilities where spent fuel reprocessing has taken place will on the other 
hand be extensively contaminated with fission products and fuel activation products. 

3.5.4 In general, these radioactive materials have very much longer radioactive decay 
periods, and so pose a higher level of human impact over that very much longer period. The 
proposed legislation should acknowledge these differences and clarify that the regulatory 
approach will address these differences. 

3.5.5 The proposals identify optimised end states, on a site by site basis, as one of the 
expected benefits from the changes, noting that this will be in consultation with local 
stakeholders, including local authorities, recognising their planning, economic development 
and environmental responsibilities. There is however little detail on how this consultation will 
be assured and, more importantly, how such consultation will be incorporated. This is 
particularly important for Copeland given both the quantity of radioactive material likely to 
fall under these arrangements and the very many generations over which the material will 
pose a hazard.

3.5.6 The proposed legislation should include the process by which consultation will be 
assured, and how it will be incorporated in each site’s end state specification.

Page 16



Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 021018

Consultation on Draft Nuclear Safeguards Regulations

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith

Summary and Recommendation:

This paper provides background to a recent consultation launched by UK Government on 
proposals for a new nuclear safeguards regime that will come into force following the UK’s 
departure from the European Union and the Euratom Treaty. In view of the fact that the 
closing date for the consultation was 14th September the consultation response was agreed 
by the Chair of SNEB and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Resources prior to 
submission.  

1. Members are asked to note the current position regarding the development of new nuclear 
safeguards and the Council’s consultation response. 

1. Draft Nuclear Safeguards Regulations
1.1 At the Board’s meeting in June, and on previous occasions, Members have expressed 

some concern on the lack of information circulating regarding the impact of Brexit on 
matters relating to the nuclear sector generally and the management of radioactive 
waste and nuclear materials specifically. In relation to this topic in July the Government 
launched a consultation to seek comments linked to the establishment of Nuclear 
Safeguards Regulations; 

‘Following withdrawal from the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom), the 
UK will be introducing new Nuclear Safeguards Regulations to enable a domestic 
nuclear safeguards regime to operate in the UK. This consultation seeks views on the 
operability and effectiveness of these draft Nuclear Safeguards Regulations.

The government has committed to establish a regime that will operate in a similar way 
to existing arrangements, but with changes made to the regulations to ensure they are 
appropriate for the domestic, legislative and operational landscape in which they 
operate.

If passed into law, these proposed Regulations will allow the Office for Nuclear 
Regulation (ONR) to meet international obligations from day one of exit, and to build, 
over time, a safeguards regime equivalent in coverage and effectiveness to that 
currently provided by Euratom.’

2. Consultation response

2.1 The consultation on the draft UK Nuclear Safeguards Regulations closed on 14th 
September. In summary, the regulations replace the current arrangements provided by 
the UK’s membership of Euratom and by the European Commission’s role in the 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



trilateral agreements between the International Atomic Agency, the UK and Euratom. 
The regulations seek to establish a regime that is equivalent to that currently provided 
by Euratom, and which will exceed expected international standards. The draft 
regulations are by the nature of their scope highly technical, and provide a legal 
framework for ONR’s regulatory and enforcement roles. As such, the proposed CBC 
response does not individually address the 47 consultation questions as they are mainly 
directed at the detail of individual regulations.

2.2 The response does make some higher level comments on the overall approach 
recognising CBC’s strong interest in being satisfied that the relevant nuclear materials 
stored in the Borough are the subject of rigorous safeguards, to at least current 
international and Euratom standards, and that ONR has the legal basis to oversee and 
enforce the regulations. Key issues for the Council highlighted in the response include 
transparency of the operation and public reporting of the safeguarding activities, 
ensuring the appropriate level of resources are available to ONR to carry out the tasks 
and stakeholder engagement and trust in ONR carrying out those tasks. 

2.3 In view of the timescales for submission of the consultation response, the draft was 
agreed by the Chair of SNEB and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate 
Resources prior to submission. The final response is attached for Members information 
as Appendix A. 

Page 18



Appendix A

Nuclear Safeguards: Draft Regulations – Copeland Borough 
Council response to consultation by the UK Government

1. Introduction

Copeland Borough Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on the draft regulations for 
a new domestic nuclear safeguards regime following the UK’s withdrawal from Euratom. The 
Council notes and supports the intention that the regulations seek to establish a regime that 
is equivalent to that currently provided by Euratom, and which will exceed expected 
international standards.

The draft regulations are by the nature of their scope highly technical, and provide a legal 
framework for ONR’s regulatory and enforcement roles. As such, the Council’s response does 
not individually address the 47 consultation questions as they are mainly directed at the detail 
of individual regulations.

The response does make some higher level comments on the overall approach recognising 
the Council’s strong interest in being satisfied that the relevant nuclear materials stored in the 
Borough of Copeland are the subject of rigorous safeguards, to at least current international 
and Euratom standards, and that ONR has the legal basis to oversee and enforce the 
regulations. 

This response has been developed with the Council’s Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board. 

The Council and the communities it represents has a long history of involvement with the 
nuclear industry stretching back over the last 70 years. The Borough is host to the Sellafield 
site, which currently hosts the majority of the UK nuclear material subject to safeguards 
regulations, and may be requested to accept further safeguarded materials depending on 
development and implementation of Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) strategy for 
these materials.

The Borough is also the host community for the National Low Level Waste Repository as well 
as the HQ for the NDA, the central laboratory for the National Nuclear Laboratory (NNL), the 
National College for Nuclear northern facility, various University-led research and training 
facilities as well as being the home of the Centre for Nuclear Excellence (CoNE).

In view of the above, we believe that the Council is well qualified to provide an informed view 
on the draft regulations for nuclear safeguards on the UK’s withdrawal from Euratom.

2. General Comments

The Council notes and supports the intention that the regulations seek to establish a regime 
that is equivalent to that currently provided by Euratom, and which will exceed expected 
international standards.

While the position on cost recovery of safeguards is primarily one for the companies affected 
the Council would have reservations over such an approach, were it to be implemented. The 
basis for this is that safeguarding of nuclear materials is a critical assurance activity, the 
arrangements for which should be fully transparent. Making operators liable for recovery of 
safeguards costs creates an avoidable and unwarranted potential for conflict of interest.

Page 19



More generally, public transparency of safeguards activities and outcomes is poorly addressed 
in the regulations. Requirements for prompt public reporting of key information and outcomes 
should be added to the regulations, particularly where there are material changes in inventory 
balances.

Additionally the Council is keen to be reassured that the ONR will be able to secure the 
necessary resources and recruit the necessary skilled staff to carry out these new areas of 
activity and additional duties. 

Finally, stakeholder confidence in safeguards arrangements is highly dependent on 
stakeholder trust in ONR under the proposed arrangements. The regulations should identify 
requirements on ONR to seek feedback on the level of trust stakeholders perceive to be 
present in the safeguards reporting framework. This and the preceding comments are of 
particular importance to the Council given the quantity of safeguarded material held in the 
Borough. 

3. Response to consultation questions

As noted above, the Council’s response does not individually address the 47 consultation 
questions as they are mainly directed at the detail of individual regulations. The Council can 
confirm that it has no explicit objection to raise against any of the questions.

Page 20



Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 021018

Nuclear Projects Update 

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith

Summary and Recommendation:

This paper provides a summary update of key projects relating to the Councils nuclear 
activities specifically the Moorside Project, the North West Coast Connections Project and the 
Governments intentions for the provision of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher 
activity radioactive waste. 

1. Members are asked to note the current position in relation to the Moorside Project and the 
North West Coast Connections Project and UK Government’s proposals for the development 
of a GDF.
 

1. The Moorside Project and North West Coast Connections Project

1.1 Members will recall that in May 2017 NuGeneration Ltd announced a pause in the 
development of the Moorside Project to allow for a ‘strategic review’. Following 
completion of the review and the decision by Toshiba to seek a new owner of the 
project, members will be aware from media coverage that KEPCO had been identified 
as the preferred bidder, although final confirmation of the deal is still awaited. 

1.2 On 11th September NuGen issued the following statement:
 

‘For over a year, Toshiba has pursued a sale of NuGen to KEPCO. Due to the prolonged 
time it has taken reach a conclusion, NuGen has undertaken a review of its size and 
scale. An employee consultation process has concluded and on 11th September, NuGen 
staff were informed that owing to the protracted period of time it has taken to secure 
a way forward for the Moorside Project, there would be a phased reduction in the 
headcount within the NuGen organisation. 
This consultation served to identify the posts that will be required to finalise and 
complete a transaction for the sale of NuGen and as a result, the team of over 100 will 
reduce to fewer than 40. NuGen’s retained core team will be focused on securing a sale 
of the NuGen business and supporting Toshiba’s activities.
NuGen’s aim remains to deliver low-carbon, low cost nuclear power at Moorside and 
the company remains committed to delivering this for Cumbria and the UK.’

1.3 Any further updates regarding the status of the company, if available, will be provided 
at the meeting. 

1.4 Members will recall that at the SNEB meeting in March a report outlined the proposal 
and process for establishing a revised National Policy Statement (NPS) for new nuclear 
power station developments post-2025. The NPS sets out the planning framework by 
which Development Consent Order applications will be assessed by the Planning 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Inspectorate and by which developers will need to structure their proposals. At the 
meeting in March, Members agreed to the Council submitting a response to the 
Government’s consultation on the future NPS. 

1.5  The Government has now published its response to the NPS consultation which is 
available by following this link - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/727628/NPS_Siting_Criteria_Consultation_-
_Government_Response.pdf

1.6 As reported in March the next stage in the process is for developers to consider re-
nominating their sites and to confirm that they are deployable by 2035. NuGeneration 
Ltd has confirmed that it has submitted a re-nomination of the Moorside site. 

1.7 It is still expected that in the autumn the Government will consult on a draft list of sites, 
as part of a consultation on a final draft Nuclear NPS and by autumn 2019 Government 
will publish the final list of potentially suitable sites as part of the final nuclear NPS.

1.8 As a consequence of the Moorside Project pause, work on the North West Coast 
Connections Project remains suspended with no recent activity to report.

1.9 As Members will be aware The New Nuclear Local Authorities Group (NNLAG) is a group 
of local authorities whose boundaries include sites for potential new nuclear power 
stations. Copeland BC has been a member organisation for a number of years. Members 
will recall that Whitehaven has previously hosted the annual conference of NNLAG. The 
Group exists to share experiences and to collectively challenge developers and 
Government around common areas of interest. Attached for information at Appendix A 
is the current work programme of the Group. Specifically the Group is proposing to fund 
and facilitate a longitudinal study of the development construction and impacts of the 
Hinkley Point C power station in Somerset. It is proposed that the study will be carried 
out by an academic organisation or similar over a period of years to track the 
developments and monitor the impacts. Once completed the outcomes of the study will 
be shared amongst the NNLAG members and made available commercially.

2. Geological Disposal Facility

2.1 Members will recall from the previous meeting that Government had launched a 
consultation process (in January) seeking views on two aspects of the Governments 
‘Implementing Geological Disposal’ policy, around ‘Working with Communities’ and the 
‘draft National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal Infrastructure’. The 
Council responded to both consultations. 

2.2 As reported previously Government has now carried out an internal scrutiny of the 
proposals to establish a NPS for Geological Disposal Infrastructure.  On Tuesday 10th July, 
the House of Commons Business Energy and Industrial Strategy Committee met to 
receive evidence from interested individuals and organisations relating to the NPS. 
Members may wish to view the proceedings which are available via following the link 
https://parliamentlive.tv/event/index/8afb00c5-c2b9-4484-b1b5-
448629facf8b?in=09:17:14.

Page 22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/727628/NPS_Siting_Criteria_Consultation_-_Government_Response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/727628/NPS_Siting_Criteria_Consultation_-_Government_Response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/727628/NPS_Siting_Criteria_Consultation_-_Government_Response.pdf
https://parliamentlive.tv/event/index/8afb00c5-c2b9-4484-b1b5-448629facf8b?in=09:17:14
https://parliamentlive.tv/event/index/8afb00c5-c2b9-4484-b1b5-448629facf8b?in=09:17:14


2.3 On 31st July the BEIS Committee published its report which concluded that the NPS is ‘fit 
for purpose’ but with some additional recommendations. The full report is available at 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmbeis/1092/109202.htm

2.4 It is worth noting that in supporting the NPS, the Committee included a number of 
recommendations/comments;

 We believe that given the nature of the material to be stored in a GDI, safety 
matters should be paramount and be given a greater weight than any other 
criterion.

 We agree with the Government that a site could conceivably be designed in a 
way that would be acceptable to communities, preserve the benefits of 
National Parks and AONBs and avoid any surface facility in conservation areas.

 Any long-term waste management strategy should include waste from new 
nuclear.

 Government work with CoRWM and RWM to strengthen the justification for 
geological disposal in the NPS.

 We recommend that the Government clarifies in the NPS the level of 
uncertainty regarding the inventory and explains to prospective host 
communities how this will affect their right to reject the GDI at any point 
during the siting process.

 For transparency purposes, the Government should clarify in the NPS the level 
of radioactivity that, to its knowledge, waste from the 16 to 18 gigawatt 
electrical new nuclear build programme would add to the total volume of 
radioactivity in the GDI and how that will impact the infrastructure 
requirements of the facility. The Government should also provide details in 
the NPS on the level of radioactivity from new nuclear build waste as a 
proportion of the total level of radioactivity in the GDI.

 The Government should clarify the degree of priority afforded to community 
consent in the NPS in a way that is accessible to a lay audience so as to give 
prospective communities all the tools they need to engage with the siting 
process.

 The Government should refrain from drawing connections between the 
Industrial Strategy and geological disposal in order to justify its policy choices. 
If it wants to maintain the link between the two policies, the Government 
should justify in detail how geological disposal will be integrated within the 
Industrial Strategy framework.

 The Government must clarify in the NPS how the Secretary of State will have 
regard to local skills and employment opportunities when considering 
development consent orders for geological disposal. The Government should 
also place stronger requirements on the developer in the Impacts section of 
the NPS to establish robust local skills partnerships with the host community 
and to rely on local employment and sourcing opportunities.

Page 23

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmbeis/1092/109202.htm


2.5 The next stage in the process is for BEIS to review the draft NPS for Geological Disposal 
Infrastructure in the light of comments from the Committee and the consultations 
received and prepare a final draft for launch. The date for this is as yet unknown.

2.6 In relation to the ‘Working with Communities’ policy BEIS officials are digesting the 
consultation comments received in April and reviewing the document for potential 
launch at a date still to be determined.

Page 24


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on  26 June 2018.
	5 Update on Developments in Radioactive Waste Management.
	6 Consultation on Draft Nuclear Safeguards Regulations.
	7 Nuclear Projects Update

